A Dollar A Day: Creating The World Market for Lifesaving AIDS Drugs

A Review of the Price Drop in ARV Drugs for The Open Philanthropy Project

(Tamara Mann Tweel, Ph.D. prepared this report)

Table of Contents:

I: Acronyms

II: Abstract

III: Project Description and Findings

- Project Description
- Findings

IV: Sources

V: Price Graphs

VI: Background

A. HAART

- B. Building the Generic Drug Market
- C. International Patent Protection and TRIPS

D. South Africa

VII: The First Price Drop – the Access Campaign and the Rise of Pharma Philanthropy

A. The Access Campaign

- B. Pharma Philanthropy and the First Price Drop
- C. Summary of the First Price Drop

VIII: The Second Price Drop – Creating the Generic Market

- A. Cipla
- B. A Dollar A Day
- Doha and Reinterpreting TRIPS
- D. Global Fund and Third Party Purchasers
 - E. The World Health Organization and Prequalification
 - Third Party Procurement and The Generic Norm
 - Summary of the Second Price Drop

IX: The Third Price Drop – CHAI and the Market-Shaping Approach

- Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI)
- Lessons Learned from the Market-Shaping Approach
- Summary of the Third Price Drop

Appendices:

Appendix A. Timeline

Appendix B. Selected Sources

I: Acronyms

AAI: Accelerating Access Initiative

ARV: Antiretroviral Drugs

API: Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient

CHAI: Clinton Health Access Initiative

CPTech: Consumer Project on Technology

DAI: Drug Access Initiative Program

FDC: Fixed Dose Combination

HAART: Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy

MSF: Medecins Sans Frontieres (Doctors Without Borders)

PEPFAR: President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief

TRIPS: The Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights

USTR: United States Trade Representative

WHO: World Health Organization

WTO: World Trade Organization

II: Abstract

Numerous philanthropic organizations claim credit for the reduced cost of antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) for patients afflicted with HIV/AIDS (Human Immunodeficiency Virus / Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome). From 2000 to 2005, the cost of these drugs fell in price from approximately \$10,000 - \$15,000 per person per year to \$140 per person per year. This report examines the drivers of this significant price reduction.

This paper confirms previous scholarship that claims the price drop occurred in three stages. The first – in which ARVs dropped from \$15,000+ per person per year to approximately \$1000 per person per year between 2000 and 2001 – can be attributed to activists persuading pharmaceutical companies to offer philanthropic prices to pilot projects; the second drop, from approximately \$1,000 per person per year to about \$350 per person per year between 2001 and 2003, can be attributed to the active creation of a generic drug market; and the final drop, from \$350 to \$140 between 2003 and 2005, can be attributed to interventions into the existing generic market.

This report also offers the following claim: The most important and sustainable aspect of the price drop in ARVs came from the deliberate and hard-fought creation of a market for generic drugs, a market that relied on (1) the existence of companies, like Cipla Ltd., with proven expertise in making high quality, high volume, generic drugs; (2) a permissive legal environment for the production and purchasing of generic drugs; (3) the ability of the World Health Organization to offer quality control; (4) and the creation of substantial third party purchasers, like the Global Fund.

III: Project Description and Findings

A) Project Description

From 2000 to 2005, antiretroviral drugs for HIV/AIDS (ARVs) dropped in price from \$10,000 - \$15,000 per person per year to \$140 per person per year. This drop was the result of intervention by patient activists, generic producers, politicians, multinational pharmaceutical companies, economists, and leaders in the nonprofit health community.

This report examines the drivers of this significant price reduction.

Findings

There is a wealth of good actors that deserve credit for the success of the AIDS access movement. These findings are in no way meant to diminish the number of forces and people that had to align to build this movement. Since the purpose of this report is to understand exactly how, and through what mechanisms, the price of ARVs went down, I am obliged to offer some preliminary conclusions with the full acknowledgement that there is room for disagreement here.

In this report, I argue that the sustained price drop came through the establishment and growth of the generic ARV market. This market was created by producers in India, third-party buyers (first in Brazil and then later in other government or international entities), and activists who forced both the United States and the global pharmaceutical industry to loosen their grip on international patent law. The market was then refined through the intervention of economists working for Ralph Nader and staffers at the Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI).

This assessment acknowledges the valuable intervention of non-profit organizations that partnered with pharmaceutical companies to test access projects. For these projects, originator companies generously lowered the cost of their medications, from as high as \$15,000 per person per year to as low as \$1,000 per person per year. It is possible that these companies would have continued to lower their price to the current rate of \$140 per person per year, in the absence of further intervention by philanthropic actors and generic drug companies. However, I see no evidence to suggest that the philanthropic price would have come down without pressure from third-party buyers purchasing low-cost generics. While I was unable to reach parties within the pharmaceutical industry who could confirm or reject this thesis, my sources overwhelmingly agreed with this

assessment. It is also important to remember that the prices from the first drop were based on private negotiations and dependent on the largesse of specific companies.

Without a serious global commitment to permit and promote generic production, ARV prices would have remained irregular, opaque, and subject to the whim of companies holding patents. The scholars Ethan B. Kapstein and Joshua W. Busby agree with this assessment, arguing that the generic market was willfully created by a "constellation" of actors.

[E]conomists have generally argued that what brought down the price of ARVs around the world was entry by low-cost generic producers.... What this perspective overlooks, however, is that the groundwork for generic entry was laid by advocates who sought to show in the first instance that ARV delivery in the developing world was effective and who then helped to pool demand in order to create a market sizeable enough to be of commercial interest. Finally, they helped spur industrialized world governments to increase foreign aid funds that were earmarked for AIDS treatment, so that developing world governments could acquire the drugs at these reduced prices. Generic drugs, in short, did not 'drop by parachute' into the developing world; their entry was catalyzed by advocates, that at a minimum helped save many lives speeding drug delivery.

The most important and sustainable aspect of the price drop in ARVs came from the deliberate and hard-fought creation of a market for generic drugs, a market that relied on (1) the existence of companies, like Cipla Ltd., with proven expertise in making high quality, high volume, generic drugs; (2) a permissive legal environment for the production and purchasing of generic drugs; (3) the ability of the World Health Organization to offer quality control; (4) and the creation of substantial third party purchasers, like the Global Fund.

IV: Sources

In 2014, GiveWell commissioned Brian Coyne to conduct a literature review of the ARV price drop. This report draws heavily from Coyne's thorough research into the available literature on ARVs and the access campaign (sometimes to the extent of using passages from his literature review in the main text). I have flagged sections that Coyne authored (or co-authored) with footnotes following the section header.

To supplement Coyne's research, I conducted in-depth interviews with actors involved in the creation and refinement of the generic drug market, including individuals from the Global Fund, the World Health Organization, and the Clinton Health Access Initiative (for a complete list see the *Selected Sources* section).

I supplemented these interviews with a limited literature review of my own. I focused my attention on the articles and books that were both easily accessible (through the web,

ProQuest, and an academic library) and provided the largest amount of relevant information. One book in particular proved immensely useful and deserves special mention: Ethan B. Kapstein and Joshua W. Busby's *AIDS Drugs For All*.

AIDS Drugs For All uses the ARV market to explore the effects of social movements on market transformations. I urge anyone interested in this topic to read this well-researched and complex synthesis of activism and pharmaceutical market transformation.

V: Price Graphs

Throughout this paper, I reference the shifting price of ARVs. While various organizations report slightly different numbers, the trend is clear.

There are three major price drops. The first, and I would argue the least sustainable, took place in the early 2000s when pharmaceutical companies made discreet deals with countries and nonprofits to see if ARVs could be used effectively in resource-poor nations. While the magnitude of the drop is significant (the price of ARVs arguably dropped from between \$10,000 - \$15,000 per person per year to approximately \$1,000 per person per year), it is important to keep in mind that these prices were negotiated privately and relied on the generosity of particular companies.

The second price drop occurred from 2001 to 2003 and can be attributed to the creation of a viable market in generic ARVs. Here it is important to note that this market was forged by activists, political leaders, and company leaders. While scholars often estimate the magnitude of the second price drop at about \$700 (prices fell from \$1,000 per person per year to around \$300 per person per year), it is valuable to remember that these were the first transparent public prices, so the exact magnitude of the drop is not known.

The third price drop, from approximately \$300 per person per year to \$140 per person per year, occurred when the Clinton Health Access Initiative intervened to rationalize the generic drug market in ARVs (see section IX for further discussion of CHAI).

The first graph below (figure 1), from *Medecines Sans Frontiers* (Doctors without Borders), displays the price drop between 2000 and 2003, the second graph (figure 2), from the Clinton Health Access Initiative, displays the price drop between 2003 and 2005, and the last graph (figure 3), from AVERT, displays the price drop between 2000 and 2002. I will be referencing these graphs throughout the report.

Figure 1: ARV Prices Between 2000 and 2003

Figure 2: Comparison of 2003 and 2005 ARV Prices

Figure 3: ARV Prices Between 2000 and 2002

VI: Background

A) Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)

In 1996, after a decade of activist pressure and pharmaceutical research, an effective therapy for the AIDS virus became available. HAART (highly active antiretroviral therapy), a combination of antiretroviral drugs (also called ARVs, or a "triple cocktail"), transformed HIV and AIDS from a death sentence to a chronic disease in countries where patients, their insurance companies, or their governments could afford to pay for treatment. Four years after the introduction of HAART, death rates caused by AIDS-related illnesses in developed countries had dropped by 84 percent." By the 21st century, AIDS had become a manageable, if expensive, disease to treat in the United States and Europe. The drugs themselves cost between \$10,000 - \$15,000 per person per year.

In Africa, AIDS stricken individuals were dying at an alarming rate. In 1999, the World Health Organization (WHO) stated that HIV/AIDS had become "the fourth biggest killer worldwide and the number one killer in Africa." WHO approximated that 33 million individuals were currently infected with the virus. AVERT reported that "Five years after HAART was introduced in the West, only 2 percent of people in developing countries were receiving the life-saving drugs."

In the mid-1990s, numerous public health professionals believed that ARVs could not be

appropriately distributed in resource constrained countries. Experts also feared that partial adherence to ARV drug regimens would encourage the development of ARV-resistant strains of the disease. To transform this consensus, and push for the value of universal access, activists would have to prove that ARVs could lower in price and that the drugs could be administered properly in resource-constrained economies.

There is no single starting point of the ARV price drop story. For the purpose of this report, I will begin, as the economist and intellectual property policy expert Jamie love does, with the partnership between Brazil and Indian generic pharmaceutical companies, which built the first low-cost market for the active ingredient in generic ARV drugs.

B) Building the Generic Drug Market

In Brazil, healthcare is a right established in the country's constitution. Once AIDS therapy became effective in the mid-1990s, the Brazilian government had an obligation to provide AIDS treatment to its citizens. It did so by manufacturing and purchasing large quantities of generic ARVs. Brazil was not the first country to manufacture generic ARVs. It was, however, the first country to purchase ARVs in bulk for its citizens. In Love's words, "The [Brazilian] government was providing insurance for people with AIDS and that created a market.... They were spending in the 90s about 150 million dollars on ARV drugs per year. That was almost all of the developing countries purchasing of AIDS drugs."

In the 1990s, Brazil could manufacture the drugs but had a limited capacity to produce the necessary active ingredients. Generic drugs, my sources agree, are relatively easy to manufacture (for the process see figure 4).

Figure 4: Pharmaceutical Production Process

The hardest aspect of generic drug production is producing (or purchasing) the Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (APIs).

In 1996, the Brazilian government turned to India, a crucial world source for generic drugs and APIs, to purchase active ingredients for local production of ARVs.

Since the early 1970s, India had forbid patents on pharmaceutical chemicals (product patents) but permitted patents on manufacturing methods (process patents). This approach helped create the country's vibrant generic drug industry, which, by the 1990s, had begun reaching beyond domestic clients to the international market. As Love argues, due to the focus on innovation in manufacturing, "Indian companies became better than European-American companies at making the drugs...[and] became the dominant

supplier of active pharm ingredients for the world." Mainak Mazumdar, author of *Performance of Pharmaceutical Companies in India*, concurs, "Because of the competence gained by the Indian pharmaceutical companies in process engineering, the Indian companies...gained a reputation in the international market as a low-cost producer."

In 1992, the Indian company Cipla, spurred by its managing director Yusuf K. Hamied, began reverse-engineering AIDS drugs. Hamied told the *Wall Street Journal* that he did so because "he realized the epidemic would hit India hard." In 1996, when HAART therapy was introduced, Cipla was well poised to produce the active ingredients, and started, along with other Indian generic firms like Ranbaxy, to create enough volume to supply the Brazilians.

This partnership between the Brazilian government and Indian generic pharmaceutical companies would become the model for universal access. As Kapstein and Busby write, "In an important sense this Brazilian approach to ARV treatment, which combined universal access on the one hand coupled with efforts at restructuring pharmaceutical markets on the other, became the 'model' which the treatment advocacy movement sought to expand on a global basis."

The partnership model was challenged from the start. New international patent law, established at the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 1995, made the Brazilian purchasing arrangement with Indian companies extremely precarious.

C) International Patent Protection and TRIPS

In 1995, three years after Cipla began reverse engineering AIDS drugs, and one year before HAART became available, the WTO implemented a new set of intellectual property laws called TRIPS (The Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights). TRIPS ensured that countries with different types of patent laws would comply with the patent system set up in developed countries like the United States.

In 1996, Brazil changed its patent laws to comply with TRIPS. Drugs that were invented before the new patent rules went into effect (such as AZT, an antiretroviral drug) could still be produced. Under TRIPS, India had a grace period and could manufacture generic ARVs and APIs until 2005, at which point the country would have to be TRIPS compliant. The purchasing arrangement between Brazil and India would be quickly challenged as it spread to South Africa in the late 1990s.

Before turning to the South African story, it is important to assess the relative importance of TRIPS. Accounts of the AIDS Access Campaign (an activist movement to expand access to ARVs in developing countries) often focus on the methods activists used to lobby governments to revise TRIPS leading up to the 2001 Doha Declaration. My research does not overturn this narrative, but it does temper its centrality to the larger price reduction story.

Anil Soni, an expert who has worked at almost all of the major institutions involved in

the ARV price drop, including the Global Fund and CHAI, argued that TRIPS was never the crucial barrier to price reduction. "If you look back at TRIPS... not even India, none of the [relevant] countries needed to respect patents yet [under the TRIPS agreement]." Technically, Soni is right – TRIPS was not a meaningful barrier to entering the ARV generics market in the late 1990s.

In the late 1990s, pharmaceutical companies used TRIPS to challenge generic ARV production. By so doing, they created a unified target vulnerable to attack by activist groups. In 1997, 39 pharmaceutical companies sued South Africa over a TRIPS violation. This lawsuit galvanized disparate AIDS activists and increased the public profile of the low-cost ARV access issue.

D) South Africa

In the mid 1990s, South Africa had one of the world's highest rates of HIV infection, close to 20 percent, with 4.7 million people living with the disease. The South African government, under Nelson Mandela, resolved to try to make ARV drugs more widely and cheaply available in the country. In 1997, the South African Parliament passed a law giving the Minister of Health the authority to take two kinds of actions to increase the availability of HIV/AIDS medications: compulsory licensing of patented ARV drugs and parallel importation of ARVs from other countries. Compulsory licenses allow a generic manufacturer to produce a limited batch of a patented drug to combat a specific public health issue. Parallel importation allows countries, under certain conditions, to import drugs from countries where that drug might be cheaper.

After the law was passed, a group of 39 pharmaceutical companies sued South Africa, arguing that it was violating its obligations under TRIPS and violating their rights under the South African constitution.

The United States government initially supported the lawsuit. A bipartisan group of 47 members of Congress signed a letter asking the United States Trade Representative (USTR) to "pursue all appropriate action" against South Africa's policy. With the Clinton Administration on board as well, the USTR placed South Africa on a "watch list" of countries suspected of violating intellectual property agreements, an action that automatically suspended beneficial trade terms that had previously been approved for a number of South African products. Congress also suspended bilateral aid to South Africa and explicitly demanded repeal of the country's patent law as a condition for the resumption of aid.

In addition to pressuring South Africa through diplomatic and legal channels, the drug companies applied their own economic pressure to South Africa. Merck dropped a planned \$10 million investment in the country, and Bristol-Myers Squibb, Pharmacia & Upjohn, and Eli Lilly all shuttered their factories in South Africa.

VII: The First Price Drop – the Access Campaign and Pharma Philanthropy

A) The Access Campaign

The South African lawsuit "had a catalytic effect on the global AIDS movement," inspiring a wide array of philanthropically funded non-governmental organizations (NGOs) to fight for access to ARVs. This section examines this fight, which has often been called the access campaign.

The access campaign NGOs began a multipronged public relations initiative aimed at pharmaceutical companies and politicians involved in the South African lawsuits. The NGOs feared that a successful lawsuit against South Africa would have a chilling effect on the efforts of other developing countries to use compulsory licensing and parallel imports to increase ARV access.

Oxfam, ACT UP, and MSF issued press releases and took out ads critical of the pharmaceutical industry. MSF started an online petition demanding that the drug companies drop the lawsuit. ACT UP organized demonstrations in New York City against the pharmaceutical companies outside their corporate offices, featuring slogans like "Stop Medical Apartheid of AIDS" and "Drug Company Greed Kills." The access NGOs' "name and shame" campaign was widely considered a success, and the lawsuit became a "public relations nightmare" for the pharmaceutical companies.

The access NGOs also worked, both publicly and privately, to change the US government's position on the issue. Prior to 1999, the United States, home to many of the major international pharmaceutical corporations, had been one of the more hardline defenders of strong patent rights for medications. When the pharmaceutical companies first sued the South African government over its patent law in 1997, the United States strongly supported the lawsuit. However, in 1999 the Clinton administration withdrew its support – President Clinton issued an executive order instructing the USTR to henceforth prioritize access to essential drugs over intellectual property rights for medicines. The United States later became a major supporter of the Doha Declaration of 2001, which advocated for TRIPS flexibilities to increase access.

Al Gore, while running for President, similarly changed his position and began supporting increased access to ARV drugs. The popular press at the time largely credited the access campaign with this policy turnaround. Our assessment of the situation based on the information publicly available is that Gore was moving, slowly and behind the scenes, toward a more access-friendly position, but the access campaign pushed him to support access more quickly and publicly.

Deprived of support from the US government, and under withering criticism from the access NGOs and others, the pharmaceutical companies admitted defeat. In April 2001, the pharmaceutical companies not only agreed to drop the lawsuit against South Africa but also took the unusual step of reimbursing the South African government for its legal expenses.

• Pharma Philanthropy and the First Price Drop

After the win in South Africa the AIDS activist community settled on prices and access "as the heart of the strategy." Kapstein and Busby date convergence to the 2000 Durban AIDS Conference where lower drug prices "seemed like a winning, reachable, position."

This strategy seemed feasible because of three major changes in the ARV landscape that took place in the late 1990s: tiered pricing, shift in public opinion, and proof of concept programs.

Tiered Pricing: In the 1990s, the pharmaceutical industry consolidated and globalized. Over 10,000 alliances were formed as the industry began to expand internationally. With expansion came the idea of 'tiered pricing' (sometimes referred to as differential pricing). Drugs would now be priced appropriately for different classes of consumers living in different regions of the world. Due to tiered pricing, activists could visually see that drug prices were negotiable.

Public Opinion: Contemporary news accounts make clear that by early 2000, executives at the major pharmaceutical corporations were deeply aware of the changes in world opinion and reeling from the negative publicity, which the Guardian described as "one of the great PR disasters of all time." The Washington Post portrayed the pharmaceutical industry in March 2000 as "a \$350 billion industry on the run" and wrote that "Two years of public censure, with charges of profiteering on history's worst pandemic, had brought the manufacturers of AIDS medicines close to pariah status in U.N. forums" and in global public opinion more generally.

Proof of Concept Programs: For much of the 1990s, explained Anil Soni, scientists and public health experts stressed the "challenges of putting individuals outside of the first world on the complicated ARV regimen." In the late 1990s, "a series of programs would dispel the world of that assumption." These programs proved that HAART therapy could be delivered and followed anywhere in the world.

Pilot programs, like the United Nations funded Drug Access Initiative (DAI) and its larger successor the Accelerated Access Initiative (AAI) assisted countries by establishing nonprofit organizations that purchased, using funds from UNAIDS and other donors, ARV drugs from manufacturers at discounted prices. By 2000, numerous pharmaceutical companies were interested in pursuing this strategy, which I refer to as Pharma Philanthropy. As Soni explains, the companies had three major motivations to invest in these programs. The first was the simple fact that they "had nothing to lose. There were no sales in Africa and they had no expectation of sales." The second was "that if there were poor quality products out there and the companies didn't act, then there was the possibility of diversion, which would undermine their principal high income markets." Finally, multinational pharmaceutical companies needed to insure that they could still capture middle-income markets like Brazil or South Africa with strong patent laws for other drugs.

DAI, AAI, and numerous other pilot projects successfully established the viability of access programs and demonstrated that pharmaceutical companies would lower the cost of ARV drugs for discreet, viable distribution projects.

C) Summary of the First Price Drop

By 2001, due to pressure from activists, pharmaceutical companies offered philanthropic prices for pilot projects. In some instances, the price of ARVs dropped to \$1,000 per person per year. The lower prices were both financially strategic and motivated by the goodwill of pharmaceutical company leaders. I have not encountered any evidence that suggests these prices would have come down further without the introduction of generic ARVs.

Pharmaceutical philanthropy would not become the long-term solution to the access problem. Major price drops would be achieved in the coming years through the creation of a competitive generic market for ARVs. As Kapstein and Busby conclude:

Major pricing reductions on ARV drugs would not be achieved until generic competition came on the ARV scene after 2000, a few years after the DAI scheme was launched. And it was the promise of cheap generics, rather than the differential prices of branded products, that really made the idea of 'universal access to treatment' more than a pipedream.

The value of the first price drop for the long-term success of the access movement was arguably not in the lowered price of ARVs. Rather, pharmaceutical companies and the nonprofits they partnered with proved that ARVs could be successfully distributed and taken in countries throughout the world.

VIII: The Second Price Drop - Creating the Generic Market

Cipla

While some activists were pressuring pharmaceutical companies to slash their prices, others, such as Jamie Love, were working with generic companies to create a low enough offer on ARVs that the entire health care community would have to switch tactics. They sought to transform the market from a high-cost low-volume model that relied on originator companies to a low-cost high-volume model that relied on generics. This strategy hinged on an Indian pharmaceutical company Cipla and its CEO, Yusaf Hamied.

By 2001, Cipla was the "market leader in AIDS drugs in India" and a singular authority, due to it connection with the Brazil purchasing program, on how to scale up generic ARV production. For Jamie Love, an economist specializing in knowledge-based goods working for Ralph Nader and head of the Consumer Project on Technology (CPTech), Yusaf Hamied and Cipla provided an opportunity to counter high-price branded drugs with low-cost generics.

In the late 1990s and early 2000s, Love began asking experts (both inside and outside the U.S. government) "what it would cost to manufacture AIDS cocktails without the

patents." He wanted to uncover the exact dollar amount it cost to manufacture the drugs. "What was incredible to me at the time," he said, "was that nobody seemed to know." The White House "said they have no idea." "How could they not have an idea?"

Love decided to find out. With expenses covered by Nader, he started to travel to countries that were producing generic ARVs, such as Thailand, and decided that what he really needed to do was contact a major generics producer, like Cipla.

After reverse-engineering ARVs for a decade, Indian pharmaceutical companies had developed a major innovation in ARV production. There were dozens of patents covering the complex ARV cocktail therapy. Since Cipla and Ranbaxy (another Indian pharmaceutical company making ARVs) did not have to respect those patents, they were able to combine multiple drugs into one pill. As Anil Soni explains, "Fixed-dose combination started in India. At the time, this was incredibly novel. You could take one pill twice a day instead of multiple pills multiple times a day." The combination of "three antiretrovirals (patented by different pharmaceutical companies) into a single pill [became] known as a fixed dose combination (FDC)." As described on the AVERT website, "[FDCs] were a significant innovation as they reduce the number of pills taken each day. Because FDCs are easier to manage – for both patients and health workers – they increase adherence, thereby reducing the incidence of drug resistance. The drugs were also available in heat resistant forms, which proved extremely valuable for use in the developing world, where often there is scarce access to refrigeration facilities."

Cipla had developed the drug, but it had not yet found a large market for it. There were two reasons for this: 1) besides the Brazilian government, there were no major third-party buyers, even in India, and 2) until the Doha Agreement, international patent law restricted sales. As the WSJ reported, "In August, Cipla canceled a shipment of its Combivir AIDS drug to Ghana after getting a letter from GlaxoSmithKline warning that the product was under patent. Ghanaian authorities disagreed, and even Glaxo officials now concede they were in error. Even so, Cipla decided not to stay and fight." In the summer of 2000, ARV medication was still a high-cost, low-volume product, even for generics.

Love and William "Bill" Haddad, an affordable drug activist, flew to London to meet Hamied to change that equation. In the summer of 2000, Hamied, reports the WSJ, impressed the group "with his offhand recitation of the costs of making AIDS drugs. Asked about AZT, he said 'Talk to the Koreans, they're cheaper than the Indians." Love recalls the group discussing in detail "how to identify sources of raw materials for drugs that were not controlled by branded drug companies." Hamied and Love worked out on paper how Cipla could supply ARVs at the lowest cost possible. As Love recalls,

He kind of showed me how to breakdown the price and what cocktails we could and couldn't get. That eventually became the basis of the Cipla offer that I negotiated in January and early February in 2001 for MSF. I worked out the price in the summer of 2000. I didn't think it was a big deal at the time. Everyone knows if you buy in bulk you would get a great price. It's straightforward.

On September 28, 2000, Hamied arrived at the European Commission meeting in Brussels to announce his offer. Seated between representatives from Merck and Glaxo (two major pharmaceutical companies), Hamied, the sole representative from a generic company in attendance, rose and said:

We strongly believe that in the third world there should be no monopolies for vital, lifesaving, essential drugs. We are the only manufacturers today of one of the triple drug combinations proven to be effective. We are ready to offer this combination internally at U.S. dollars at \$800 per person per year.

Cipla's bold offer rattled the pharmaceutical companies without actually increasing sales. As Hamied lamented following the meeting, "No one took us seriously and I was absolutely disillusioned." The price, claimed Jamie Love, wasn't bold enough. Love wanted to find a price that was so low that it would convince governments and international bodies that they could actually afford to purchase ARVs in bulk from generic companies rather than negotiating with brand-name pharmaceutical companies.

B) A Dollar A Day

Jamie Love continued to press for a generics market. He traveled back to India in December 2000 to see how trade rules could be revised to support generic competition. There, he encouraged Cipla to draft letters to drug companies that held patents on AIDS drugs for a voluntary license to produce the drugs. He also continued working with Hamied to get what he called "a dramatic price."

In January, Love met with Bernard Pécoul, then the Medical Director of MSF, and "suggested that a \$350 annual per patient ARV price might be possible." Love and Hamied had been talking for months. Love knew that if Cipla agreed to swallow production costs, a price of \$1 a day was possible. Cipla was already producing the raw materials and production costs in India were low. Love saw that Hamied could still turn a profit if MSF would purchase in bulk, pay cash, and take care of distribution." As Love explained, under those conditions "it wasn't a humanitarian price. They would be making a profit." Love also anticipated that the \$1-a-day price would spur demand, competition, and increased efficiency in the generics market, all of which would keep the price down. Nine months after the offer, "\$1 a day had fallen to about \$240 a year. It was about \$140 a few years later."

In emails reported by the WSJ, Love wrote to Hamied regarding the \$350 price he had offered to MSF, "'Cipla could call it a donation or whatever it needs to,' Mr. Love said in one such message. 'This will be a very closely watched price quote, and will go directly to the question of whether or not Africa should pursue a generics strategy, or negotiate endlessly with the big pharma players." The January 26th earthquake in Gujarat created the emotional backdrop that convinced Hamied to go through with the offer, which he settled on February 6th.

On February 7th, 2001, Hamied sent MSF "a faxed confirmation letter ... offering [the] \$350 price, so long as the drugs were distributed free of charge." Love called Donald McNeil, a reporter who had been covering AIDS access and the story ran on the front page of *The New York Times*.

The offer, which came to be known as a \$1 A Day, and the media frenzy it created, transformed the ARV market and offered the feasibility of broad international access to AIDS medication. In Love's words, "It was the magic number. It completely changed things."

For the first time, large governing bodies realized they could actually afford to purchase ARVs in bulk. It also, as Love predicted, pushed access advocates to support generic production rather than lobby for philanthropic prices from pharmaceutical companies. As the WSJ reported, "Health-care advocates in the U.S. are paying attention, too. Cipla's price, \$350 a year per patient for a one-three-drug cocktail known to extend lives of AIDS patients, is 1/30 of the treatment's costs in the U.S. Paul Davies of AIDS activist organization Act Up/Philadelphia says his group has decided to lobby against big drug companies' patent extension in the U.S. in order to pressure them to sell drugs cheaply in Africa."

In response to the Cipla's offer and international attention, major drug companies started reducing the price of their drugs. As reported in *The New York Times*: "Last week, in an effort to encourage African nations and international donors to begin buying or subsidizing the drugs, but also partly in response to Cipla and its Indian rivals, Merck & Co. slashed its prices by an additional 50%. New price cuts from other big companies are expected to follow."

C) Doha and Reinterpreting TRIPS

Cipla's offer also put increased pressure on international patent law.

As early as 1999, a group of representatives from 350 NGOs from 50 countries met in Amsterdam to plan their strategy for the upcoming WTO meetings in Seattle and Doha. The group produced a document called the "Amsterdam Statement," which spelled out their desired changes to TRIPS, including strengthening the ability of developing countries to use compulsory licensing and parallel imports, encouraging research into diseases predominantly affecting developing countries, and assisting developing countries in building domestic pharmaceutical industries. While we cannot be certain, the evidence suggests that the access NGOs were instrumental in pushing international actors to revise TRIPS at the November 2001 Doha conference.

This effort was helped by a change in the way the WTO worked. NGOs did not have much of an opportunity to participate in the Uruguay trade talks that produced TRIPS. However, by 2000, the WTO was allowing NGOs to attend trade talks. 674 NGOs were officially accredited to participate in the Doha talks, including MSF, the French affiliate

of ACT UP, and seven branches of Oxfam. Once they were "embedded" in the process, the access NGOs helped developing countries organize as a bloc.

By this point, the United States had also changed its position. Prodded into action during the run-up to the 2000 Presidential election, President Bill Clinton had prioritized access to essential medicines over pharmaceutical patent rights, and President George W. Bush reaffirmed this stance when he took office.

Brazil, with its large population, growing economy, and substantial generic pharmaceutical industry, emerged as the leader of the bloc of developing countries, and the final text of the agreement was hashed out predominantly by the United States and Brazil. They agreed that, rather than amend or rewrite TRIPS, the WTO would adopt a definitive statement about how the ambiguous provisions of TRIPS should be interpreted.

The resulting Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health began with statements recognizing the seriousness of the public health problems in developing countries and, in its main operative clause, declared that "We reaffirm the right of WTO Members to use, to the full, the provisions in the TRIPS Agreement, which provide flexibility for this purpose." This meant that any contested provision of TRIPS should be interpreted in the way that helps improve access to essential medicines.

Doha thus effectively foreclosed the possibility of WTO sanctions over compulsory licensing and parallel imports and, crucially, put all of its signatory countries on record as supporting these provisions.

Nine months after Cipla's offer, patients across the globe could now legally purchase generic ARVs. Legal permission, however, did not immediately transfer to increased sales. In the countries hardest hit by the AIDS epidemic, \$350 a year was still too much for most patients to afford. In the coming years, third-party international buyers would step in, inspired by the low cost of generics, to purchase and dispense ARVs to the world's needy patients.

D) The Global Fund and Third Party Purchasers

At the end of 2002, despite proof of concept programs, pharma philanthropy, low offers by generic companies, and changes to international patent law, "the number of people on ARVs was still paltry, hovering well below 500,000. "[O]nly one in a thousand people living with HIV in Africa had access to treatment." By 2010, in contrast, in excess of 6 million people were estimated to be on treatment." Viability and lower prices did not automatically increase demand.

Affordable medicine and proof of concept programs were not enough to solve the access problem, but they were enough to prompt the creation of "bilateral and multilateral funding mechanisms" that would. Kapstein and Busby write, "Given that many patients lacked purchasing power to buy drugs on their own, credible commitments of money to purchase ARVs were essential for the universal access market to function." In 2002, the

Global Fund, in 2003 PEPFAR (the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief), and in 2006 UNITAID would start purchasing bulk orders of ARVs and distributing them directly to non-profits and countries capable of reaching patients. From the outset, these organizations had to decide which drugs to purchase – branded or generics.

The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, is a financing instrument "created in 2002 to save lives and direct the world's money to those most in need." G8 leaders acknowledged the need for such a fund at the 2000 summit in Okinawa, Japan and Kofi Annan, then the U.N. Secretary General, officially called for its creation at the African Summit on AIDS in Abuja, Nigeria in 2001. The funding pool initially drew from government and private sectors donors, such as the United States and The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. By the time the Fund was official in 2002, experts working at the WHO recall that it "struggled to use its funds wisely. For new generic medicines, the Fund and other donors needed assurances that quality was acceptable." Anil Soni, who worked at the Fund during this period, recalls their first board meeting in April of 2002, "at that time, we said to the Board we don't have a policy on what we were allowed to buy." The rise of rigorous quality assurance by WHO would give the Fund the needed assurance to purchase generics.

E) The World Health Organization and Prequalification

The WHO began offering quality assurance for pharmaceutical products in 1999, when a study showed that the active ingredients in some tuberculosis (TB) medications were not being absorbed in patients, thereby allowing the TB to spread. Activists reached out to the WHO about ARVs after Cipla's \$350 offer in 2001. Kapstein and Busby relate one example:

Within the week, Dr. Hamied, the leader of Doctors without Borders and I [Bill Haddad] went to the World Health Organization and laid out our case. If WHO did not create a one-stop approval process, the multinationals would drag us from one courtroom in one country to another courtroom elsewhere, trying to wear us out. WHO agreed and Canada, the EU, Scandinavia and South Africa created an airtight regulatory pathway that was as stringent as any in the world including the FDA....

According to Dr. Jonathan Quick, the Director of Essential Drugs and Medicines Policy at the WHO, experts at the WHO understood that there would be "gridlock in the Global Fund," without an "independent quality certification of ARVs." WHO staff began creating a prequalification program in the early 2000s. As explained in a paper on the subject by 't Hoen et al., "The term 'prequalification,' refers to the outcome: after WHO approval, a product is deemed 'prequalified' to participate in UN procurement tenders. Products that have received approval by a stringent regulatory agency are already eligible for procurement." Despite pushback from the International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers (a trade organization representing the interests of large pharmaceutical companies), which "was quick to question whether WHO's assessment standards were sufficiently strict," In March of 2002, the WHO "published its first list of

41 approved formulations of ARVs and other HIV medicines."

The WHO prequalification program gave the Global Fund an opportunity to allow its grantees to purchase generic ARVs. This, explains Soni, was the final piece in the "jigsaw puzzle" of attaining global access to ARVs. In his words, "The generic companies created it, the Global Fund said they could buy it, and WHO would approve it." This process had the added benefit, he explained, of making the price transparent. Tiered pricing and philanthropic pricing by pharmaceutical companies had left the price of ARVs opaque – now there was an open market and a serious buyer.

F) Third Party Procurement

Inspired by the Global Fund and the magnitude of the AIDS health crisis in Africa, President George W. Bush announced the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) in his State of the Union Address in January 2003. This plan authorized the U.S government to spend \$15 billion in five years towards HIV/AIDS treatment programs.

In his address to the nation announcing PEPFAR, President Bush quoted the generic price for ARVs, stating, "AIDS can be prevented. Anti-retroviral drugs can extend life for many years. And the cost of those drugs has dropped from \$12,000 a year to under \$300 a year, which places a tremendous possibility within our grasp. In fact, explains Love, the feasibility of a reasonably priced generic actually inspired the U.S. government to act. Love recalls Mitch Daniels, who was then the Director of the U.S. Office of Management and Budget, telling him that "when the price was a couple thousand they just figured no way. They couldn't justify it from a cost-benefit ratio. When the price got down to a \$1 a day they had to do something. They became big believers in AIDS treatment." The pharmaceutical industry reacted negatively to Bush's announcement and PEPFAR began its purchasing program by buying brand-name ARVs. PEPFAR eventually moved towards purchasing generics after 2004.

By 2006, when UNITAID was formed, funded by a tax on plane tickets, third-party procurement of generic AIDS medication had become a productive norm facilitating the goal of universal access. Kapstein and Busby write:

What the various procurement programs under the Global Fund, PEPFAR, and UNITAID have in common is that they have delivered affordable medicines to patients at scale. With the Global Fund and PEPFAR each taking credit for 3 million-plus patients on ARVs, and UNITAID providing ARV services to almost a million people, that was demonstrated. While branded pharmaceuticals have been crucial sources of ARV supply, particularly for PEPFAR before the FDA expedited approval for generics, low-cost generic ARVs, aside from procurement and distribution systems, have enabled these programs to ramp up to wider numbers of people.

G) Summary of the Second Price Drop

By 2002, the global community had the low, transparent price of \$300 per person per year from generic companies. With the second price drop the major attributes of the global ARV market had solidified. Generics would be produced by generic companies, evaluated for efficacy by the WHO, and purchased by large third-party buyers (the Global Fund, PEPFAR, and UNITAID), and distributed to patients across the globe through nonprofit organizations and national health ministries. The combination of international organization purchasers, like UNITAID, and individual country purchasers, created a competitive and sustainable market for low-cost and high-volume ARVs.

IX: The Third Price Drop – CHAI and the Market-Shaping Approach

A) Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI)

In our investigation of this topic, the Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI) came up numerous times as the cause of a final price drop (from around \$300 per person per year to \$140 per person per year). While I contend that CHAI's actions in the generics market helped move the price from \$300 to \$140 per person per year, some Open Philanthropy and GiveWell analysts are not convinced, and argue that the price would have continued to go down without CHAI's intervention. Below is my summary of the events.

By 2002, Jamie Love, Bill Haddad, and Yusaf Hamied had proven that a certain kind of market manipulation could work. The \$1 A Day offer spurred international bodies to become reliable and major buyers of generic ARVs, which in turn drove down the production costs. ARVs were on the way to becoming a low-price, high-volume business. By the end of 2001, claims Love, purchasers could acquire ARVs for as low at \$250 per person per year. Still, in 2002, 6 million people were in need of treatment and only 300,000 patients were receiving medication.

In October of 2002, CHAI "was created to bring care and treatment to people living with HIV/AIDS and to strengthen health systems in resource-poor countries." When CHAI entered the sector, high-volume, low-cost production of generic ARVs was becoming the norm. They looked at this growing sector and realized that they could further lower the costs of ARVs by rationalizing the market. As Soni, who moved from the Global Fund to CHAI in 2005, puts it: the CHAI team got together and asked, "Now that we live in a world that has generic ARVs, how can we get the price down as far as possible?"

For Ira Magaziner, the CEO and Vice Chairman of CHAI, ARV price was never the only issue. As Soni explains, "If countries know that the price will go down it will create confidence that people can afford treatment and will go on treatment. The impact will be greater than the dollar saved because by communicating to the world that the price will be that cheap you actually create the momentum to put people on treatment." This logic had worked before with Cipla and the Global Fund. From 2002 to 2005, CHAI would learn how to insert itself into the relationship between buyers and producers, in order to increase market size while lowering production costs even further.

CHAI developed its approach while talking with governments about scale up. Magaziner

realized that even companies like Cipla were having a hard time increasing demand, which would in turn lower prices. The normal lag time of the market was preventing countries from moving forward with purchase orders. As Soni describes:

Rather than having a passive approach to the market and waiting essentially for volume and competition to bring down the price, [we thought] why don't we actively engage manufacturers and bring the price down. Why don't we explain the volume they will see in three years? Why don't we forward price. Why don't we agree to a price now that reflects a weighted average view of your cost structure over time; and also let's advise you [on] how you allocate things like overhead and sales marketing, so you are not biasing the price of your ARVs by higher margin products in other markets.

To begin this process, CHAI created a team that came predominantly from the world of management consulting. Soni explains, "...we hired a lot of consultants. I had worked at McKinsey; Ira had consulted with chemical companies. We understood the value chain and we know that there are different levers we can pull to get costs down."

CHAI decided to intervene in the pharmaceutical markets in a number of ways. On the supply side, it convinced manufactures to accept smaller margins but produce more drugs, it helped source cheaper ingredients, and eventually it even paid chemists to develop less expensive manufacturing and synthesizing techniques. Soni recalls:

We engaged with manufacturers to say, "Can we work with you upstream if we can bring the intermediary prices down?" So I went with colleagues to China and we said how can we get the price down... We started looking at the chemistry. Some of the manufacturing process is inefficient. You are not getting the [largest] chemical yield [that you could], or you are using solvents that are too expensive. We worked with professors in the U.S., and post-docs in labs in the U.S. on these chemistry challenges. We also developed the [intellectual property] to get costs down, and then transferred that to manufacturers.

CHAI persuaded manufacturers to sign deals that it had secured with organizations on the demand side. The team realized that even for generic companies, "sale volumes were unpredictable, and purchasers often paid late or defaulted altogether." To persuade the manufacturers to accept slimmer margins, CHAI would have to ensure large and reliable purchasing orders. Soni writes:

What did CHAI and its purchasers agree to in return [for manufacturers offering lower prices]? The agreements require prompt and secure payment terms, such as letters of credit. Further, they reflect principles of sound procurement, each tied to assumptions about cost savings. These include aggregated national orders; ongoing forecasting of product volumes; reliance on international quality standards like WHO prequalification or U.S. Food and Drug Administration approval;

expedited national registration based on those standards; secure distribution of product in country (to avoid leakage into high-income markets); and, finally, movement toward the use of multi-year tenders and splitting high-volume orders across two or more suppliers.

Generic companies knew that they would be paid for the volume on time by responsible governing bodies. Soni summarizes, "This insight gave us credibility with manufacturers, whom we approached with a commitment to stimulate demand and improve procurement practices in partner countries."

When CHAI first approached Ranbaxy, a generic producer in India, Sandeep Juneja, then a top executive at the company, said that while demand was picking up it was "still weak." Kapstein and Busby report that CHAI then "suggested that they could put the developing countries together in a kind of pooled procurement. Their idea was to put the people together to form a sort of 'buying club.' CHAI, Juneja argued, 'brought us into their vision of having a very low mark-up.' He said CHAI asked us to 'take a leap of faith that this will happen. And we did.'"

The first CHAI agreement on this consortium model contained three major rounds of price cuts. The first came from the high volume, the second came from generic companies willingness to accept slighter margins, and the third came from 'forward pricing.' CHAI was able to secure prices that anticipated volumes three years down the line. Soni explains:

API suppliers, in particular, were able to do this because they had confidence that in addition to the volume-based manufacturing savings we assumed, they would be able to achieve higher yields over time (as they gained experience) and, therefore, require fewer raw materials. Knowing the costs would fall, suppliers agreed to forward pricing to help stimulate demand and to gain market share.

"On the basis of these savings," Soni describes:

CHAI signed agreements in October 2003 with five suppliers specifying prices for nine formulations of the most common ARVs: zidovudine (AZT), lamivudine (3TC), stavudine (d4T) and nevirapine (NVP). Partner API suppliers – Matrix and Hetero – would supply at or below the specified prices when selling to partner formulators. And the partner formulators – Cipla, Ranbaxy, Hetero and Aspen Pharmacare – would sell at or below the specified formulation prices when selling to CHAI purchasers (at the time, a dozen countries which represented a third of HIV prevalence in Africa and 90 percent of prevalence in the Caribbean).

Predictable volumes had a palpable impact. Kapstein and Busby report:

For governments, the new prices meant that '[a]ll of a sudden, they could treat six times as many people for the same amount of money' (Dugger

2006). *The Wall Street Journal* concluded that '[e]ssentially, the Clinton Foundation is becoming a market maker' (Schoofs 2003). For generic firms, this was critical, as Yusuf Hamied of Cipla notes, 'This is the first time a group has come forward with predictable volumes. (Schoofs 2003).

CHAI negotiated agreements pushed the price of ARVs down to \$140 per person per year. This had the added effect of bringing down generic costs generally. In CHAI's estimation, generics went from \$384 per person per year in 2003 to \$192 per person per year in 2005. The CHAI price steadied at \$140 per person per year.

Moreover, according to CHAI, from 2003-2005, access to prices as low as \$140 per person per year, "had been extended to 48 countries, representing 70 percent of people worldwide living with HIV. To date, 25 countries have completed orders for a total purchase of more than 200 million pills, so that more than 180,000 patients on treatment today (2005) are benefiting from medicines purchased under our agreements."

The CHAI approach lowered the overall costs of generic ARVs while increasing international demand. Kapstein and Busby summarize, "Leaving aside the technical role played by CHAI representatives, the initiative has been an important agent in driving down drug prices. One study looking at transactions conducted between July 2002 and October 2007 found that for 9 or 13 dosage forms, CHAI-negotiated prices were statistically significantly lower than non-CHAI purchases."

While mirroring aspects of the Cipla offer, the CHAI market intervention strategy was innovative for a nonprofit. As Soni argues, "No one had done anything like this before. The cooperation between a non-profit and a pharmaceutical industry at that level was completely novel."

B) Lessons Learned from the Market-Shaping Approach:

One issue that came up for CHAI was the problem of arriving at sustainable profit margins. Soni explained:

You can't make the prices too low. What we have done for the last ten years is get the prices down. What you don't read is that there is a lowest price past which you can't go. ARVs represent 8% of total HIV/AIDS spending per year right now. We are not the driver of costs for the system for HIV/AIDS, yet because prices of drugs are such a visible target and because there has been such good progress, we continue to be the target of ongoing price reductions to the point of potential unsustainability. We are the victims of our own success.... The price can't be too thin for us [if it is] we could have supply shortages, which has happened this last year and what you can have is manufacturers leaving the market. Cipla and Rabaxy today represent very limited market share. Now it is largely Mylan, Hetero and Aurobindo. With only three manufacturers if one or two falls out and then we are expected to scale up and to double supply, [we have a problem.]

CHAI staffers explained that the goal always had to be a sustainable price. If the market always goes to the lowest bidder it might save money in the short term but constrict the market to a single supplier. A better solution, they explained, is to give 60-80 percent to the lowest bidder and 40 percent to other supplies to keep the market robust and healthy, as competition reduces prices in the long run.

Another significant issue that came up as CHAI attained expertise in procurement was the value of working within governments rather that building a separate supply chain. Although logistically challenging at first, this approach allowed CHAI to create sustainable healthcare infrastructures that could continue to provide care.

CHAI has developed an approach, informed by the logic of financial consulting, that can be applied to numerous health crises. Experts learn about every angle of a market and then productively intervene to eliminate inefficiencies and cut costs. They then work with government institutions on procurement and distribution.

C) Summary of the Third Price Drop:

Skeptics of the impact of CHAI's intervention argue that the ARV market was already moving towards lower prices and that CHAI-negotiated price cuts were nominal at best. Three responses offered by those involved with CHAI, which were corroborated by other sources, that respond to this objection: (1) the market for ARVs is not a well-functioning market and required intervention; (2) CHAI functioned like other pivotal third party purchasers; (3) CHAI's capacity to offer cost cutting agreements freed up crucial funds that countries could then redirect towards scaling up care.

- (1) Soni summarized the first response: "Some would say a well-functioning market would do this anyway. But the challenge is that this is not a well-functioning market." "For example", he explained, "at many pharmaceutical companies the 'intellectual horsepower' is invested in products that make us money." ARVs simply do not make companies enough money. "Moreover, in the early 2000s," Soni continues, "The market was also irregular because it was highly unpredictable. No one knew there would be 13-14 million people on treatment 10 years ago."
- (2) It is possible to read CHAI's impact as part of the larger movement of third-party purchasers. As Kapstein and Busby relate, "at the time CHAI began its operations, the Global Fund was new and PEPFAR had yet to launch, so there was no major funding source for ARV purchases in the international community, providing a major inducement to generic entry."
- (3) CHAI staffers argued that the cost cutting approach allowed countries to scale up care and reinvest funds that otherwise would have been spent on medication to bolster national healthcare infrastructure.

Even if one argues that prices were going down due to the natural course of generic competition, in my view the CHAI-negotiated cuts helped ensure the third price drop, by

assisting in the expansion of a sustainable generic ARV market.

Appendices:

Appendix A: Timeline

1981

• First AIDS case reported in Center for Disease Control's Weekly Morbidity and Mortality Report

1987

• First AIDS drug AZT approved for use

1995

• TRIPS (trade-related aspects of intellectual property rights) Agreement enters into force, 10-year phrase-in for developing countries (signed in 1994)

1996

- HAART (Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy) introduced and proven effective in stopping the progression of HIV
- HAART costs between \$10,000 -\$15,000 per person per year
- Brazil begins universal ARV therapy

1997

- UNAIDS DAI (Drug Access Initiative) launched
- South Africa passes Medicines Act, patent law to give Minister of Health authority for compulsory licensing and parallel importation

1998

- February: South African government sued over its 'Medicines Act"
- June-July: International AIDS society meeting in Geneva
- December: South Africa's TAC formed

1999

- November: MSF Access Campaign Initiated
- MSF, HAI, and CPTech host Amsterdam meeting on access to medicines
- December: Seattle WTO meeting, Clinton announces administration will support TRIPS flexibilities
- ACT UP and other organizations make pharmaceutical intellectual property policy into an issue in the U.S. Presidential election.

2000

- September: Cipla announces \$600 \$800 per person per year at European Commission Meeting in Brussels
- January: UN Security Council meeting on AIDS
- May: AAI (Accelerating Access Initiative introduced by five UN organizations

and six (later seven) pharmaceutical companies.

2001

- February: Cipla announces a dollar a day triple cocktail
- *March:* WHO prequalification created
- April: South African lawsuit withdrawn
- June: UN General Assembly meeting on AIDS, political declaration supports universal treatment access.
- *November:* Doha health exception accepted

2002

- January: The Global Fund created
- October: Clinton Health Access Initiative created

2003

- January: PEPFAR announced
- October: CHAI first agreements announced

Appendix B: Selected Sources:

A) Books, Articles and Websites

Abbott, Frederick. 2002. "WTO Trips Agreement and Its Implications for Access to Medicines in Developing Countries." Commission on Intellectual Property Rights. http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1924420.

"Accelerating Access Initiative: Statement of Intent." 2002. http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/prev_care/en/west_africa.jpg?ua=1.

"Accelerating Access Initiative: Face Sheet." 2007. www.vfa.de/download/AAI-Factsheet-May-07-Q4-2006-.pdf.

ACHAP. 2011. "A Public-Private Partnership ARV Treatment Model." http://www.achap.org/sites/default/files/arv_treatment_support.pdf.

ACHAP. 2013. "Annual Report, 2012." http://www.achap.org/sites/default/files/newsletter/achap_report21-04-13.pdf.

ACT UP. 2001. "AIDS Drugs For Africa March and Rally." http://www.actupny.org/reports/march5.html.

ACT UP. Undated. "Candidate Gore Zaps." http://www.actupny.org/actions/gorezaps.html.

AIDS.gov. 2014. "Global AIDS Overview." http://aids.gov/federal-resources/around-the-world/global-aids-overview/.

Amfar.org. 2014. "Thirty Years of HIV/AIDS: Snapshots of an Epidemic." http://www.amfar.org/Thirty-Years-of-HIV/AIDS-Snapshots-of-an-Epidemic/.

"Amsterdam Statement to WTO Member States on Access to Medicine." 1999. http://www.cptech.org/ip/health/amsterdamstatement.html.

The Antiretroviral Therapy Cohort Collaboration. 2008. "Life Expectancy of Individuals on Combination Antiretroviral Therapy in High-Income Countries: A Collaborative Analysis of 14 Cohort Studies." *The Lancet*, 372: 9635, pp. 293-9.

Avafia, Tenu and Savita Narasimhan. 2006. "The TRIPS Agreement and Access to ARVs." United Nations Development Programme.

Avafia, Tenu, Jonathan Berger, and Trudi Hartzenberg. 2006. "The ability of select sub-Saharan African countries to utilize TRIPS flexibilities and competition law to ensure a sustainable supply of essential medicines: A study of

producing and importing countries."

AVERT. 2014. "Generic Antiretroviral Drugs." http://www.avert.org/generic-arv-drugs.htm.

AVERT. 2014. "History of HIV and AIDS." http://www.avert.org/history-hiv-and-aids.htm.

AVERT. 2014(b). "Antiretroviral Drug Prices." http://www.avert.org/antiretroviral-drug-prices.htm

AVERT. 2014(c). "HIV/AIDS, TRIPS, and Second-Line Therapy." http://www.avert.org/hiv-drugs-patents-legislation.htm.

AVERT. 2014(d). "HIV & AIDS in Botswana." http://www.avert.org/hiv-aids-botswana.htm.

AVERT. 2014(e). "History of HIV & AIDS in South Africa." www.avert.org/history-hiv-aids-south-africa.htm.

AVERT. 2014(f). "HIV & AIDS in South Africa." http://www.avert.org/hiv-aids-south-africa.htm.

AVERT. 2014(g). "HIV & AIDS in Uganda." www.avert.org/hiv-aids-uganda.htm.

Barton, John. 2001. "Differentiated Prices of Patented Products." Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations." http://www.icrier.org/pdf/WP-JOHN%20BARTON.pdf.

Bayer, Ronald and Mervyn Susser. April 20, 2000. "In South Africa, AIDS and a Dangerous Denial." *Washington Post*. http://chora.virtualave.net/mbeki-aids5.htm.

Beard, Jennifer, Frank Feeley, Sydney Rosen. 2009. "Economic and Quality of Life Outcomes of Antiretroviral Therapy for HIV/AIDS in Developing Countries: A Systematic Literature Review." *AIDS Care*: 21:11, pp. 1343-56.

Beaubien, Jason. July 9, 2012. "Botswana's 'Stunning Achievement' Against AIDS." *National Public Radio*. http://www.npr.org/2012/07/09/156375781/botswanas-stunning-achievement-against-aids.

Behrman, Greg. 2004. The Invisible People. New York: Free Press.

Bery, Priya and Michael Reich. 2005. "Expanding Global Access to ARVs: The

Challenges of Patents and Prices." In Kenneth H. Mayer and H. F. Pizer, eds., *The AIDS Pandemic: Impact on Science and Society*. New York: Academic Press

Boseley, Sarah and Luke Harding. February 14, 2001. "Crusading Indian firm takes on might of Glaxo SmithKline." *The Guardian*. www.theguardian.com/world/2001/feb/14/sarahboseley.lukeharding/print.

Botswana. 1993. "Botswana National Policy on HIV/AIDS." http://hivaidsclearinghouse.unesco.org/search/resources/iiep_botswana_national_hivaids_policy_93.pdf.

Butler, Anthony. 2005. "South Africa's HIV/AIDS Policy, 1994-2004: How can it be explained?" *African Affairs*, 104:417, pp. 591-614.

Caines, Karen and Louisiana Lush. 2004. "Impact of Public-Private Partnerships Addressing Access to Pharmaceuticals in Selected Low and Middle Income Countries." Initiative on Public-Private Partnerships for Health.

Charnovitz, Steve. 1996. "Participation of Nongovernmental Organizations in the World Trade Organization." *University of Pennsylvania Journal of International Economic Law*, 17:1, 331-57. https://www.law.upenn.edu/journals/jil/articles/volume17/issue1/Charnovitz17U.Pa.J.Int'lEcon.L.331(1996).pdf.

Clinton, Bill. December 1, 1999. "Remarks by the President to the luncheon in honor of the ministers attending the meetings of the World Trade Organization." The White House, Office of the Press Secretary. www.staff.city.ac.uk/p.willetts/PIE-DOCS/INDEX.HTM.

Clinton Health Access Initiative. 2011. "About Clinton Health Access Initiative." http://www.clintonhealthaccess.org/files/about-CHAI-fact-sheet-nov-2011.pdf.

Clinton Health Access Initiative. 2012. "Consolidated Financial Statements." http://www.clintonhealthaccess.org/files/Clinton%20Health%20Access%20Initiative%20-%20Financial%20Statements%202012.pdf.

Clinton Health Access Initiative. 2013. "ARV Market Report: The State of the Antiretroviral Drug Market in Low- and Middle-Income Countries."

Clinton Health Access Initiative. 2014. "Our History." http://www.clintonhealthaccess.org/about/history.

Clinton Health Access Initiative. "Two thirds of people who need treatment in the developing world are still not receiving it." http://www.clintonfoundation.org/our-work/clinton-health-access-initiative/programs/

hivaids.

Cohen, Myron et. al. 2011. "Prevention of HIV-1 Infection with Early Antiretroviral Therapy." *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 365:6, pp. 493-505.

Cooper, Helene, Rachel Zimmerman, Laura McGinley. March 2, 2001. "AIDS Epidemic Puts Drug Firms in a Vise: Treatment vs. Profits." *Wall Street Journal*. http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB983487988418159849.

Coriat, Benjamin, Jerome Dumoulin, Yves-Antoine Flori, Tony Barnett, Yves Souteyrand, and Jean-Paul Moatti. 2003. "Patents, Generic Drugs, and the Market for Antiretrovirals," in *Economics of AIDS*.

Correa, Carlos. 2002. "Implications of the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health." World Health Organization. http://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/pdf/s2301e/s2301e.pdf.

Court, Julius. 2004. "Uganda Country Note." Overseas Development Institute. http://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/events-documents/2741.pdf. Coutsoudis, A, L. Kwaan, and M. Thomson. 2010. "Prevention of Vertical Transmission of HIV-1 in Resource-Limited Settings." *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy*, 8:10, pp. 1163-75.

De Korte, Donald, Patson Mazonde, and Ernest Darkoh. 2004. "Introducing ARV Therapy in the Public Sector in Botswana." World Health Organization.

Denny, Charlotte and James Meek. April 19, 2001. "Drug Giants Made to Swallow Bitter Pill." *The Guardian*.

Dickson, David. February 15, 2001. "Indian Company Offers Cheap Anti-AIDS Drugs." *Nature*, 409, p. 751. http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v409/n6822/full/409751a0.html.

Drahos, Peter. 2002. "Developing Countries and International Intellectual Property Standard-Setting." *The Journal of World Intellectual Property*, 5:5, 765-89.

Econsult Botswana. 2006. "The Economic Impact of HIV/AIDS in Botswana." http://www.gov.bw/Global/NACA%20Ministry/HIV_AIDS_Economic_Impact.pdf.

Elbeshbishi, Amal. 2007. "TRIPS and Public Health: What Should African Countries Do?" African Trade Policy Centre. http://www.uneca.org/sites/default/files/publications/49.pdf.

F.M., Ellen 't Hoen, Hogerzeil, Hans V., Quick Jonathan D., and Sillo, Hiiti B. "A quiet revolution in global public health: The World Health Organization's Prequalification of Medicines Programme," *Journal of Health Policy* Vol. 35, 2, May, 2014.

Fisher, William and Cyrill Rigamonti. 2005. "The South Africa AIDS Controversy: A Case Study in Patent Law and Policy." Harvard Law School Working Paper. http://cyber.law.harvard.edu/people/tfisher/South%20Africa.pdf.

Ford, Nathan. 2004. "Patents, Access to Medicines, and the Role of Non-governmental Organisations." *Journal of Generic Medicines*, 1:2, pp. 137-45.

Garbus, Lisa. 2003. "HIV/AIDS in South Africa." UCSF Country AIDS Policy Analysis Project. http://hivinsite.ucsf.edu/pdf/countries/ari-sf.pdf.

Garbus, Lisa and Elliott Marseille. 2003. "HIV/AIDS in Uganda." UCSF Country AIDS Policy Analysis Project. http://hivinsite.ucsf.edu/pdf/countries/ariug.pdf.

Gates Foundation. 2004. "Working With Botswana to Confront its Devastating AIDS Crisis." https://docs.gatesfoundation.org/documents/achap.pdf.

Gates Foundation. 2014. "HIV Strategy Overview." http://www.gatesfoundation.org/What-We-Do/Global-Health/HIV.

Gellman, Barton. May 21, 2000. "A Conflict of Health and Profit." *The Washington Post*.

Gellman, Barton. December 27, 2000(b). "An Unequal Calculus of Life and Death." *The Washington Post*.

Gellman, Barton. July 5, 2000(c). "Death Watch: The Global Response to AIDS in Africa." *The Washington Post*. http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2006/06/09/AR2006060901326_pf.html.

Gellman, Barton. December 28, 2000(d). "A Turning Point that Left Millions Behind; Drug Discounts Benefit Few While Protecting Pharmaceutical Companies' Profits." *The Washington Post*.

Gellman, Barton. April 30, 2000(e). "AIDS is Declared Threat to U.S. National Security." *The Washington Post*.

GiveWell. 2009. "Program: Anti-Retroviral Therapy to Treat HIV/AIDS." http://www.givewell.org/international/technical/programs/ART#footnote2_ybf9j4u.

"GlaxoSmithKline Responds to Oxfam's Campaign." 2001. Kaiser Daily HIV Report. http://www.healthlink.org.za/news/20010212.

Glaxo Wellcome. December 3, 2000. "Glaxo Wellcome announces agreement with the government of Uganda to increase access to HIV/AIDS medicines." Press release. www.evaluategroup.com/Universal/View.aspx? type=Story&id=6457.

Gottlieb, Scott. 2001. "Drug Company to Sell AIDS Drugs at Less than Cost Price." *British Medical Journal*, 322: 7288, p. 692. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1119896/.

Gray, Dylan Mohan, *Fire In the Blood*, Dartmouth Films and Films Transit, 2013.

Green, Edward, et al. 2002. "What happened in Uganda? Declining HIV prevalence, behavior change, and the national response." USAID. http://www.unicef.org/lifeskills/files/WhatHappenedInUganda.pdf.

Grunwald, Michael. December 2, 2002. "All-out Effort Fails to Halt AIDS Spread." *The Washington Post*.

Hannah, Erin. 2011. "NGOs and the European Union: Examining the Power of Epistemes in the EC's TRIPS and Access to Medicines Negotiations." *Journal of Civil Society*, 7:2, pp. 179-206.

Harrington, Mark. 2000. "Brazil: What Went Right? The Global Challenge of Access to Treatment and the Issue of Compulsory Licensing." www.treatmentgroup.org/tagline/2000/december/brazil-what-went-right.

Hirschler, Ben. 2001. "Glaxo Gives Up Rights to AIDS Drugs in South Africa." Reuters. http://www.aegis.org/DisplayContent/?SectionID=63469.

HIV Positive Magazine. 2006. "Celebrating the 10th Anniversary of HAART!" http://www.hivpositivemagazine.com/haart.html

Hultman, Tamala. May 13, 2004. "Botswana: Merck Official Says Partnership in Botswana is Learning from Experience and Passing it on." AllAfrica.com. allafrica.com/stories/200405130001.html?viewall=1.

Hunt, Paul and Rajat Khosla. 2010. "Are Drug Companies Living Up to their Human Rights Responsibilities?" *PLoS Medicine*, 7:9.

Jamison, Dean, et. al. 2006. Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries,

2nd Edition. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK11728/.

Joseph, Sarah. 2003. "Pharmaceutical Corporations and Access to Drugs: The 'Fourth Wave' of Corporate Human Rights Scrutiny." *Human Rights Quarterly*, 25:2, pp. 425-52.

Kapstein, Ethan and Joshua Busby. 2013. *AIDS Drugs for All: Social Movements and Market Transformations*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Katzenstein, David, Marie Laga, and Jean-Paul Moatti. 2003. "The Evaluation of the HIV/AIDS Drug Access Initiatives in Cote d'Ivoire, Senegal, and Uganda: how access to antiretroviral drugs can become feasible in Africa." *AIDS*: 17, pp. 1-4.

Kron, Josh. August 2, 2012. "In Uganda, an AIDS success story comes undone." *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2012/08/03/world/africa/inuganda-an-aids-success-story-comes-undone.html?_r=0.

Loy, Frank. 2000. "Public Participation in the World Trade Organization." http://archive.unu.edu/news/wto/ch06.pdf.

Lucchini, Stephane, Boubou Cisse, Segolene Duran, Marie de Cenival, Caroline Comiti, Marion Gaudry, Jean-Paul Moatti. 2003. "Decrease in Prices of Antiretroviral Drugs for Developing Countries: from Political "Philanthropy" to Regulated Markets?" in *Economics of AIDS*.

Lush, Louisiana and Justin Parkhurst. 2004. "The political environment of HIV: lessons from a comparison of Uganda and South Africa." *Social Science & Medicine*, 59, pp. 1913-24.

Mauchlin, Kerry. 2008. "Official government justifications and public ARV provision: A comparison of Brazil, Thailand, and South Africa." Centre for Social Science Research Working Paper. http://www.commerce.uct.ac.za/Research_Units/CSSR/Working%20Papers/papers/km214.pdf.

Mazumdar, M. M. Mazumdar, *Performance of Pharmaceutical Companies in India*. Springer, 2013.

McNeil, Donald. March 29, 1998. "South Africa's Bitter Pill for World's Drug Makers." *New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/1998/03/29/business/south-africa-s-bitter-pill-for-world-s-drug-makers.html.

McNeil, Donald. May 12, 2000. "Companies to Cut Cost of AIDS Drugs for Poor Nations." *New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2000/05/12/world/companies-to-cut-cost-of-aids-drugs-for-poor-nations.html? pagewanted=all&src=pm

McNeil, Donald. June 25, 2000(b). "Do the Poor Have a Right to Cheap Medicine?" *The New York Times*.

McNeil, Donald G. December 1, 2000. "Selling Cheap 'Generic' Drugs, India's Copycats Irk Industry," *The New York Times*.

McNeil, Donald. February 7, 2001. "Indian Company Offers to Supply AIDS Drugs at Low Cost in Africa." *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2001/02/07/world/indian-company-offers-to-supply-aids-drugs-at-low-cost-in-africa.html?pagewanted=print.

McNeil, Donald. February 13, 2001(b). "Oxfam Joins Campaign to Cut Drug Prices for Poor Nations." *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2001/02/13/world/oxfam-joins-campaign-to-cut-drug-prices-for-poornations.html.

McNeil, Donald. May 14, 2014. "Advocating Pill, U.S. Signals Shift to Prevent AIDS." *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2014/05/15/health/advocating-pill-us-signals-shift-to-prevent-aids.html? module=Search&mabReward=relbias%3Ar&_r=0.

Medicins Sans Frontieres. 2001. "A Matter of Life and Death: The Role of Patents in Access to Essential Medecines."

Medicins Sans Frontieres. 2001. "U.S. Action at WTO Threatens Brazil's Successful AIDS Program." http://www.doctorswithoutborders.org/article/us-action-wto-threatens-brazils-successful-aids-program.

Medecins Sans Frontieres. 2001. "Access to Medicines and the Doha WTO: Why Patents Matter." Transcript of Press Teleconference Hosted by MSF. http://www.doctorswithoutborders.org/article/access-medicines-and-doha-wto-why-patents-matter.

Medecins Sans Frontieres. 2001. "Drop the Case: Support the Struggle for Medicines in South Africa!" http://www.msfaccess.org/about-us/media-room/press-releases/drop-case-support-struggle-medicines-south-africa.

Medecins Sans Frontieres. 2002. "Brazilian generic drugs in South Africa: the background." http://www.msfaccess.org/content/brazilian-generic-arv-drugs-south-africa-background.

Medecins Sans Frontieres. 2009. "1998: Big Pharma vs. Nelson Mandela." http://www.msfaccess.org/content/1998-big-pharma-versus-nelson-mandela.

Medecins Sans Frontieres. 2011. "TRIPS, TRIPS Plus, and Doha." http://

www.msfaccess.org/content/trips-trips-plus-and-doha.

Medecins Sans Frontieres. 2012. "Financial Statements and Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants."

Medecins Sans Frontieres. 2013. "Untangling the Web of Antiretroviral Price Reductions, 16th Edition." http://www.msfaccess.org/sites/default/files/AIDS_Report_UTW16_ENG_2013.pdf.

Medicins Sans Frontieres. 2014. "Access Campaign." http://www.msfaccess.org/the-access-campaign.

Merck. 2010. "Merck Provides New Funding to Fight HIV/AIDS in Botswana." http://www.merck.com/corporate-responsibility/docs/FINAL_ACHAP_Release_82310.pdf.

Merck. 2011. "Public Policy Statement: Intellectual Property and Access to Medicines in the Developing World." http://www.merck.com/about/views-and-positions/public-policy-statement-ip-2011.pdf.

Merck. 2014. "ACHAP." http://fsr.merckresponsibility.com/focus-areas/access-to-health/community-investment/public-and-private-partnerships/achap/home.html.

Moatti, Jean-Paul, Benjamin Coriat, Yves Souteyrand, Tony Barnett, Jermoe Dumoulin, and Yves-Antoine Flori, eds. 2003. *Economics of AIDS and Access to to HIV/AIDS Care in Developing Countries: Issues and Challenges*. Paris: Collection Sciences Sociales et Sida.

Moeti, Themba. 2007. "Lessons from Botswana and the African Comprehensive HIV/AIDS Partnerships." http://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/archive/doc/events/6.06.07/ACHAP_Presentation_June_6_Event.pdf.

Moon, Suerie, Elodie Jambert, Michelle Childs, and Tido von Schoen-Angerer. 2011. "A win-win solution? A critical analysis of tiered pricing to improve access to medecines in developing countries." *Globalization and Health*: 7:39. Moon, Suerie. 2013. "Respecting the right of access to medicines: Implications of the UN Guiding principles on business and human rights for the pharmaceutical industry." *Health and Human Rights*: 15:1, 32-43.

Moon, Suerie and Wolfgang Hein. 2013. *Informal Norms in Global Governance: Human Rights, Intellectual Property Rules, and Access to Essential Medicines.* Ashgate Publishing: Farnam.

Mugyenyi, Peter, et al. 2006. "Scaling up antiretroviral therapy: experience of

the Joint Clinical Research Centre access programme." *Acta Academica Supplementum*, 1, pp. 216-40. http://reference.sabinet.co.za/webx/access/electronic_journals/academ/academ_suppl_2006_a9.pdf.

Mutume, Gumisai. 2001. "AIDS Activists March Against Pharmaceutical Companies." Third World Network. http://www.twnside.org.sg/title/against.htm.

Nunn, Amy, Elize Fonseca, Francisco Bastos, Sofia Gruskin, Joshua Salomon. 2007. "Evolution of Antiretroviral Drug Costs in Brazil in the Context of Free and Universal Access to AIDS Treatment." *PLoS Medicine*, 4:11, 1804-17.

Nunn, Amy. 2009. *The Politics and History of AIDS Treatment in Brazil*. New York: Springer Science.

Okero, F. Amolo, et al. 2003. "Scaling up antiretroviral therapy: experience in Uganda." World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/hiv/amds/case3.pdf.

Oxfam, VSO, Save the Children. 2001. "Beyond Philanthropy: The Pharmaceutical Industry, Corporate Social Responsibility, and the Developing World." http://www4.dr-rath-foundation.org/pdf-files/beyond_philantropy.pdf.

Oxfam. 2002. "TRIPS and Public Health: The Next Battle." http://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/trips-and-public-health-the-next-battle-115047.

Oxfam. 2002b. "Generic Competition, price and access to medicines: The case of antiretrovirals in Uganda." http://policy-practice.oxfam.org.uk/publications/generic-competition-price-and-access-to-medicines-the-case-of-antiretrovirals-i-114502.

Oxfam. 2006. "Patents vs. Patients: Five Years After the Doha Declaration." http://www.oxfam.org/en/policy/bp95 patentsvspatients 061114.

Oxfam. 2007. "Investing for Life." http://www.oxfam.org/sites/www.oxfam.org/files/bp109-investing-for-life-0711.pdf.

Oxfam International. 2008. "Access to Affordable Generic ARV Drugs." http://www.oxfam.org/en/campaigns/health-education/WAD2008-access-medicines.

Palmisano, Lucia and Stefano Vella. 2011. "A Brief History of Antiretroviral Therapy of HIV Infection: Successes and Challenges." *Ann Ist Super Sanita*, 47:1, pp. 44-8.

Parkhurst, Justin. 2001. "The Crisis of AIDS and the Politics of Response: the Case of Uganda." *International Relations*, 15:6, pp. 69-87. http://

ire.sagepub.com/content/15/6/69.citation.

Parkhurst, Justin. 2002. "The Ugandan Success Story? Evidence and Claims of HIV-1 Prevention." *The Lancet*, 360, pp. 78-80.

Pearl, Daniel and Freedman, Alix March 12, 2001, "Altruism, Politics, and Bottom Line Intersect at Indian Generics Firm" *The New York Times*.

Pecoul, Bernard, Pierre Chirac, Patrice Troillier, et al. 1999. "Access to Essential Drugs in Africa: A Lost Battle?" *JAMA*, 281:4, pp. 361-7. http://cursos.campusvirtualsp.org/pluginfile.php/17472/mod_page/content/2/Mod8/Unidad 1/Complementaria/Pecoul et al 1999.pdf.

PEPFAR. 2010. "Botswana Partnership Framework for HIV/AIDS 2010-2014: A Collaborative Effort Between the Government of Botswana and the Government of the United States." http://www.pepfar.gov/countries/frameworks/botswana/158545.htm.

Perez-Casas, Carmen, Cecile Mace, Daniel Berman, Julia Double. 2001. "Accessing ARVs: Untangling the Web of Price Reductions for Developing Countries." Medecins Sans Frontieres. http://www.msf.org/sites/msf.org/files/old-cms/source/access/2001/arvpri.pdf.

Pollack, Andrew. 2001. "Defensive Drug Industry: Fueling Clash Over Patents." *The New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2001/04/20/world/defensive-drug-industry-fueling-clash-over-patents.html.

Ramiah, Ilavenil and Michael Reich. 2005. "Public-Private Partnerships and Antiretroviral Drugs for HIV/AIDS: Lessons from Botswana." *Health Affairs*, 24:2, pp. 545-51.

Ramiah, Ilavenil and Michael Reich. 2006. "Building Effective Public-Private Partnerships: Experiences and Lessons from the African Comprehensive HIV/AIDS Partnership (ACHAP)." Social Science and Medicine, 63, pp. 397-408.

Resch, Stephen, Eline Korenromp, John Stover, Matthew Blakely, Carleigh Krubiner, Kira Thorien, Robert Hecht, Rifat Atun. 2011. "Economic Returns to Investment in AIDS Treatment in Low and Middle Income Countries." PLoS One: 6:10, pp. 1-9.

Rosenberg, Tina, January 28th, 2001, "Look at Brazil," *The New York Times*.

Rozek, Richard and Ruth Berkowitz. 1998. "The Effects of Patent Protections on the Prices of Pharmaceutical Products." *The Journal of World Intellectual Property*, 1:2, 179-243.

Sachs, Jeffrey. 2001. "A New Global Commitment to Disease Control in Africa." *Nature Medicine*, 7, pp. 521-3. http://www.earthinstitute.columbia.edu/sitefiles/file/about/director/pubs/NatureMedicine0501.pdf.

Scherer, F. M. and Jayashree Watal. 2002. "Post-TRIPS Options for Access to Patented Medicines in Developing Countries." *Journal of International Economic Law*, 5:4, pp. 913-39.

Schlein, Lisa. 2013. "Early Treatment for HIV Can Save Millions of Lives." *Voice of America*. http://www.voanews.com/content/who-hiv/1692052.html.

Sell, Susan and Assem Prakash. 2004. "Using Ideas Strategically: The Contest Between Business and NGO Networks in Intellectual Property Rights." *International Studies Quarterly*, 48, pp. 143-75.

Sidibe, Michel. 2011. "Taking Stock: AIDS, TRIPS, and Global Health After Doha." Speech. http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/speech/2011/20111123_SP_EXD_Dohaplus10_en.pdf.

Smith, Raymond and Patricia Siplon. 2006. *Drugs into Bodies: Global AIDS Treatment Activism*. Westport, Conn.: Praeger.

Snell, Beverley. 2001. "Inappropriate Drug Donations: The Need for Reforms." *The Lancet*, 358: pp. 578-80. http://download.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lancet/PIIS0140673601057129.pdf?id=aaavmeBXPc3ms4ot9dXvu.

Soni, Anil and IMagaziner, ra C. "Getting More for the Money," Global AIDSLink (Global Health Council November/December #94 (2005).

Sturchio, Jeffrey. 2004. "Partnership for Action: The Experience of the Accelerating Access Initiative, 2000 - 2004, and Lessons Learned." http://www.who.int/hiv/amds/AAI chapter6.pdf.

Swarns, Rachel. April 20, 2001. "Drug Makers Drop South Africa Suit Over AIDS Medicine." *New York Times*. http://www.nytimes.com/2001/04/20/world/drug-makers-drop-south-africa-suit-over-aids-medicine.html.

Swarns, Rachel. April 21, 2001. "Despite Legal Victory, South Africa Hesitates on AIDS Drugs." *New York Times*.

'T Hoen, Ellen F. M. 2003. "TRIPS, Pharmaceutical Patents, and Access to Essential Medecines: Seattle, Doha, and Beyond," in *Economics of AIDS*.

'T Hoen, Ellen, Jonathan Berger, Alexandra Calmy, and Suerie Moon. 2011.

"Driving a Decade of Change: HIV/AIDS, patents, and access to medicines for all." *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 14:15, pp. 1-12.

Taitz, Laurice. May 21, 2000. "AIDS Drugs Hopes Dashed." *Sunday Times of South Africa*. http://www.actupny.org/treatment/dashed.html.

Teyssier, Luis et al. 2013. "Affordability of HIV/AIDS Treatment in Developing Countries." https://www.google.com/url?

sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CDgQFjAA&url=http%3A %2F%2Fpag.ias2013.org%2FPAGMaterial%2FPPT%2F143_262%2Ffinal.pptx &ei=M0ZxU8PHEYH5oASwqoCgBA&usg=AFQjCNExue7NKRIceraHG5g82 M9ug2m7IA&sig2=NjUmWHWz4Ns-Nb6KOCZeXQ.

Tumushabe, Joseph. 2006. "The Politics of HIV/AIDS in Uganda." United Nations Research Institute for Social Development. http://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/(httpAuxPages)/86CB69D103FCF94EC125723000380C60/\$file/tumushabe-pp.pdf.

United Nations. 1949 [2014] "Universal Declaration of Human Rights." http://www.un.org/en/documents/udhr/.

UNAIDS. 2002. "Accelerating Access Initiative: Progress Report."

UNAIDS. 2003. "Accelerating Action Against AIDS in Africa." http://data.unaids.org/una-docs/icasa_report_2003_en.pdf.

UNAIDS. 2004. "Stepping Back from the Edge: The Pursuit of Antiretroviral Therapy in Botswana, South Africa, and Uganda." http://data.unaids.org/publications/irc-pub06/jc1012-steppingback_en.pdf.

UNAIDS. 2010. "Botswana Country Report 2010." http://data.unaids.org/pub/Report/2010/botswana_2010_country_progress_report_en.pdf.

UNAIDS. 2012. "Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic." http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/publications/2012/name,76121,en.asp

UNAIDS. 2013. "Access to Antiretroviral Therapy in Africa: Status Report on Progress Towards the 2015 Targets." http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/

 $2013/20131219_Access ARTA frica Status Report Progress towards 2015 Targets_en. pdf.$

UNAIDS. 2013. "Around 10 million people living with HIV now have access to antiretroviral treatment." http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/pressrelease/2013/06/20130630_PR_Treatment_en.pdf.

United Nations Development Programme. 2006. "Aspen Pharmacare." http://www.africa-platform.org/sites/default/files/resources/south_africa_aspen_pharmacare.pdf.

United Nations General Assembly. 2008. "Human Rights Guidelines for Pharmaceutical Companies in Relation to Access to Medicines." http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Health/GuidelinesForPharmaceuticalCompanies.doc.

UNITAID. 2009. "UNITAID and the Clinton HIV/AIDS Initiative Announce New Price Reductions for Key Drugs." http://www.unitaid.eu/en/resources/news/198-unitaid-and-the-clinton-hivaids-initiative-announce-new-price-reductions-for-key-drugs.

Van der Borght et. al. 2007. "The Accelerating Access Initiative: Experience with a Multinational Workplace Programme in Africa." http://www.afro.who.int/index.php?option=com_docman&task=doc_download&gid=904

Waldholz, Michael. May 11, 2000. "Makers of AIDS Drugs Agree to Slash Prices in Third World." *The Wall Street Journal*.

Waning, Brenda, Ellen Diedrichsen, Suerie Moon. 2010. "A lifeline to treatment: the role of Indian generic manufacturers in supplying antiretroviral medicines to developing countries." *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 13:35, pp. 1-9. http://archive.biomedcentral.com/content/pdf/1758-2652-13-35.pdf.

Watal, Jayashree. 2001. "Workshop on Differential Pricing and Financing of Essential Drugs: Background Note." WTO Secretariat.

World Health Organization. 2001. "More Equitable Pricing for Essential Drugs: What do we Mean and what are the Issues?" Background paper for the WHO-WTO secretariat workshop on differential pricing and financing of essential drugs.

World Health Organization. 2001b. "Report of the Workshop on Differential Pricing and Financing of Essential Drugs."

World Health Organization. 2006. "Access to AIDS medicines stumbles on trade rules." http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/84/5/news10506/en/#.

World Health Organization. 2007. "Afro Essential Medicines Price Indicator." http://www.afro.who.int/index.php? option=com_docman&task=doc_download&gid=904

World Health Organization. 2008. "Uganda edges closer to AIDS treatment for all." www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/86/6/08-020608/en/.

World Health Organization. 2013. "Global Price Reporting Mechanism." http://apps.who.int/hiv/amds/price/hdd/Default2.aspx.

World Health Organization. 2013(b). "Global Report on HIV Treatment: Results, Impacts, and Opportunities." http://www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2013/20130630_treatment_report_en.pdf.

World Health Organization. 2014. "The Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health." http://www.who.int/medicines/areas/policy/doha declaration/en/.

World Trade Organization. "Trips Agreement." Signed 1994. http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/trips_e/t_agm0_e.htm.

World Trade Organization. 2001. "NGOs Attending the Fourth WTO Ministerial Conference, Doha, Qatar 9-13 November 2001." http://www.wto.org/english/thewto e/minist e/min01 e/min01 ngo e.htm.

World Trade Organization. 2001. "647 Non-governmental Organisations Eligible to Attend the Doha Ministerial." http://www.wto.org/english/news_e/pres01_e/pr240 e.htm.

World Trade Organization. 2001. "Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health." http://www.wto.org/english/thewto_e/minist_e/min01_e/mindecl trips e.htm.

World Trade Organization. 2001. "Developing Country Group's Paper." http://www.wto.org/english/tratop e/trips e/paper develop w296 e.htm.

World Trade Organization. 2001. "EU's Paper." http://www.wto.org/english/tratop e/trips e/paper eu w280 e.htm.

World Trade Organization. 2009. "Universal Access to Antiretroviral Therapy: The Brazilian Experience."

Yamin, Alicia. 2003. "Not Just a Tragedy: Access to Medications as a Right under International Law." *Boston University International Law Journal*, 21, pp. 321-71.

B) Interviews

• Email exchange with Sadeep Juneja, Business Development Director, Medicines

- Patent Pool, Geneva, Switzerland (we were never able to schedule a formal interview).
- Interview with Jamie Love, Director, Knowledge Ecology International, December 4, 2014.
- Interview with Dr. Jonathan Quick, President and Chief Executive Officer, Management Sciences for Health and former Director of Essential Drugs and Medicines Policy at the World Health Organization, December 17th, 2014.
- Discussion (over email) with Stuart Schweitzer, Stuart O. Schweitzer is Professor of Health Policy and Management at the UCLA Fielding School of Public Health. September 29th, 2014
- Interview with Anil Soni, VP, Global Leader for Infectious Diseases at Mylan previously Chief Executive Officer, Clinton Health Access Initiative, and former Advisor to the Executive Director, The Global Fund, October 21st, 2014.
- Interview with anonymous staffers at the Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI) December 3, 2014.